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U S. Department of Labor, Denver, Col orado, for
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These consol i dated proceedi ngs arose out of inspections
conducted by representatives of the Secretary of Labor (hereafter
"the Secretary") at the underground nol ybdenum m ne operated by
d i max Mol ybdenum Conpany (hereafter "Cdimax") at dimax,

Col orado. The inspections took place on March 20 and 21, 1985.
The inspectors issued five citations for violations of mandatory
safety standards promul gated by the Secretary. Each of these
citations was tinely contested by dimax. Later, the Secretary
proposed penalties for the alleged violations. These proposal s

appear in
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the single civil penalty proceedi ng docketed as WEST 85A120AM
whi ch was consolidated for hearing with the individual contest
cases. (FOOTNOTE 1)

The consol i dated proceedings were tried under the provisions
of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
801 et seq. (hereafter "the Act"). Both parties filed
post - hearing briefs.

VEST 85A96ARM Citation No. 2358524

I nspect or Jake DeHerrara issued this citation on March 20,
1985, because openings in a flune board constituted an all eged
falling hazard under 30 C.F.R [57.11A12. (FOOTNOTE 2) That standard
provi des:

Openi ngs above, bel ow, or near travel ways through which
persons or materials may fall shall be protected by
railings, barriers, or covers. Were it is inpractica
to install such protective devices, adequate warning
signals shall be install ed.

The evidence shows that the cited condition existed at or
near a switch-point on the railroad which runs through an
under ground haul age drift. The flunme is a shallow ditch-1ike
drain which parallels the track and drains water fromthe mne
The top of the flume is covered by boards (two adjacent 2 by
12's) to keep debris fromentering the flume and clogging it.

The evidence al so shows that the haul age drift is
approximately 12 feet wide with the track running down the
center. The track is 3 feet in width, neasured between the rails,
whi ch | eaves about 4 feet of open drift floor on the side of the
tracks opposite the side where the flume is |ocated.

Wtnesses for both parties agreed that the mners wal ki ng
t hrough the haul age drift frequently use the flune boards as a
wal kway because they generally offer the snoothest surface. On
the other hand, mners may al so wal k on the opposite side of the
rails, or between the rails. The drift floor is often wet and
muddy, and is, by its nature, rough and uneven.
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According to the inspector, the opening was 14 inches |ong, 14
i nches deep, and 10 inches w de. Measurenents provided by d i max
were not significantly different. This opening | ay between the
two railroad ties on either side of the netal throw rod which
opens and cl oses the switch. The opening al so accomvbdates the
bridle bar nechani smof the switch

VWile Cimx concedes that the opening existed, it adduced
testinmony through one of its own safety inspectors, M. Kenneth
Johnston, that the switch openings were necessary to furnish
access to the switches to clean out debris. Storke level railroad
swi t ches nunber about 100, according to Johnston, and only a
smal | nunber of these are covered. About half, however, do not
cross flume boards as does the one cited. Those which are
covered, dinmax's safety and health manager Dan Larkin testified,
are generally on curves or at other points where debris fromthe
| oads of passing cars is likely to sift into the openi ngs and
interfere with the switches' operation (Tr. 85). Larkin
mai ntai ned that it was "possible" but not "practical" to cover
the part of the switch openings between the tracks because the
cover would interfere with operation of the switches (Tr. 51A52).
He acknow edged, however, that the part of the opening outside
the rails (between the throw | ever and the nearer track) could be
covered (Tr. 68).

The undi sput ed evi dence showed that a second and sonewhat
smal | er opening existed in the flunme boards near the opening for
the throw rod. This opening was al so about 14 inches long and its
wi dth varied between 7 and 4 inches. It, too, was 14 inches deep.
Here it appeared that the flume board had sinply been broken (Tr.
36). The relative |l ocation of the two openings is shown plainly
in the photograph received as governnent exhibit 1 and the sketch
received as dimax's exhibit 2.

The inspector believed that the openings in the boards
presented a clear falling hazard to m ners wal king the flunme
boards. He testified that a wal ker's foot could easily enter the
openi ng causing a broken or sprained leg or foot (Tr. 18, 26). He
enphasi zed that the haul ageway was not |ighted except by the
m ners' cap lights. The uneven illum nation source increased the
danger, he believed. That the haul ageway was not ot herw se
lighted is not disputed.

Cimax disagrees with the entire thrust of the inspector's
presentation insofar as the hazard was concerned. M. Johnston
expressed great doubt that any part of a miner's body would
actual ly drop through one of the openings causing an injury.

( FOOTNOTE 3)
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He admitted such an accident was "possible" (Tr. 71A72), but
deened it highly unlikely. He stressed that the opening at the
switch itself was at |least partly blocked by the throw rod
itself, which would support a part of the foot if a m ner should
step into the opening. The opening on one side of the rod was 1
1/2 inches, and on the other was 8 inches, he testified.

Johnston al so suggested that the inspector's focus on
fl une- board openi ngs was unrealistic since the haul ageway fl oor
was i nherently uneven, and obstacles were comon. He nentioned
standi ng water in depressions, rocks, and openi ngs between the
railroad ties. The Secretary has not denied that these features
were present. In framng its [ egal argunent on this nmatter
Cimax states in its post-hearing brief:

In determ ning whether a particul ar opening
constitutes a violation of 57.11A12, it is crucial to
consi der the | ocation of the opening. An opening of 8 by
14 inches in the floor of a 5Afoot w de el evated wal kway
may constitute a violation, while another opening of the
sane di nmensions at a different |ocation would not.
(Adimax's brief at 4.)

Further, dimax contends that the openings were not a
citabl e hazard because in its safety neetings the company
routinely warned mners to exercise care in walking the drift,
particularly around switches (Tr. 40A42). Referring to the
m ners, M. Johnston stated: "They're told to be very observant
and keep your [sic] eyes open where you're going" (Tr. 41).

Finally, dimx contends that its history of falling
accidents in haulage drifts showed that the openings were not a
hazard. In this regard, Dan Larkin, the company's manager of
safety and health, testified that approximtely 20 to 25 percent
of all accidents at the mine since 1979 had been slip-and-fal
incidents. In the sane period, however, only about 5 percent of
these occurred in haul age drifts. None involved falls through
openi ngs around track sw tches (Tr. 87A88).

I must conclude that the preponderant evidence establishes a
m nor violation of the cited standard. Cimax's argunent that the
hazard presented by the openings in the flume boards constitutes
no greater danger than the uneven floor of the drift generally,
or the danger of walking the railroad ties - conditions which the
i nspector doubtless saw but did not cite - deserves sone
consideration. It would be naive, certainly, to expect a drift of
the sort we deal with here to be as snooth and obstacl e-free as
an office-building corridor. The chief difficulty with dinmax's
position is that the flume boards presented thensel ves as an
i nviting wal kway. The evi dence convinces ne that, overall, they
of fered the snoot hest wal king surface in the drift. That miners
often choose to walk on themw th the operator's approval is not
disputed. | find that because of the openings, however, the
boards held out a deceptive sense of safety to wal kers who
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chose that route, a sense not provided by the drift floor or the
railroad ties which tended to be uniformy uneven. Moreover, the
14Ai nch drops at the flune-board openings are not inherent in the
desi gn and purpose of either the flume or the track swtches;
they may be renedied. Cimax acknow edges that some of the switch
openi ngs were covered at the time of citation. This greatly
weakens its argunent that use of covers was "inpractical."

Rather, it appears that it was practical to cover the openings
where accunul ation of debris was a problem and inpractical to do
so where it was not. The question appears nore one of nere
conveni ence than practicality.

It nust al so be noted that the smaller opening conplai ned of
in the citation had nothing to do with a switch. Instead, the
boards had apparently sinply been broken off and not repaired or
repl aced. \Were flume boards are offered as a travelway, it is
i ncunbent on the mne operator to keep themin decent repair.

We now turn directly to the question of whether either of
the two openings was |arge enough to represent a realistic
possibility that a miner's foot could fall through, thus
violating the standard. | nust agree with Cinmax that the chances
of this happening are not great. | further agree that even if a
mner's foot did encounter one of the openings, the openings were
narrow enough that the foot m ght not fall through. On the other
hand, dimax acknow edges that it is possible that a foot could
drop into the openings and that injury could ensue. From sinply
| ooki ng at the openings as depicted in the photographs and
sketches in evidence, | nust conclude that there is a realistic
possibility that a foot, or a part of one, could drop through
That is sufficient to establish violation

dimax's argument concerning safety education and the
mners' famliarity with switch openings and ot her wal ki ng
hazards in the drift does not constitute a defense. Were a
standard prescribes certain protective nmeasures to elimnate
hazards, a cautious state of m nd cannot be substituted for those
neasur es.

The operator's favorable injury record of falling incidents
in the haulage drifts is commendabl e, but again is no defense. It
bears instead upon the severity of the violation

The Secretary's citation classifies the violation as
"significant and substantial" under section 104(d) of the Act. In
Cement Division, National Gypsum Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 822 (1981),

t he Conmi ssion defined such a violation as where " there
exi sts a reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to
will result in an injury or illness of a reasonably serious
nature.” Although | amsatisfied by the evidence that the falling
hazard contributed to by the openings creates a reasonable
l'ikelihood of injury, I am
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not satisfied that the likely injury would be of a reasonably
serious nature. On the contrary, | nust agree with Cimax's
position that where injuries did occur they would be non-serious,
in the nature of scrapes, bruises or mnor sprains rather than

t he broken bones, or severe sprains envisioned by the inspector
The violation cannot, therefore, qualify as significant and
substanti al

The Secretary proposes a penalty sumof $91.00 for this
citation. The parties have stipul ated, however, that should the
vi ol ati on be found non-significant and substantial, the
appropriate penalty would be $20. 00.

The record contains evidentiary facts or stipulations
regarding the six elements to be considered under section 110(i)
of the Act in assessing penalties. These need not be detail ed
here. It is enough to say that nothing in the record shows the
stipul ated amount is inappropriate. A civil penalty of $20.00
will therefore be assessed.

VEST 85A97ARM Citation No. 2358525

This citation nearly duplicates that discussed i nmediately
above. Inspector Jake DeHerrera issued it on March 21, 1985, for
anot her opening in haulage drift flume boards. This, too, was an
all eged violation of 30 C.F.R [D57.11A12.

The evi dence shows that this opening neasured 14 i nches deep
by 31 inches long and up to 5 inches wide. The only significant
di fference between the circunstances here and those in the
previous citation may be summarized as follows: the opening is
not at or near a railway switch; the opening had a cover, but it
had been di sl odged and was | eaning against the rib, rather than
being in place; the |ongest dinmension of the opening ran the
I ength of the flume boards, rather than across them and the foot
traffic could be expected to be |less, consisting primarily of six
el ectricians headquartered in a nearby shop area.

In terns of the existence of a violation, none of these
differences would alter the result reached for the earlier
citation. The defenses are essentially the same (except for those
relating exclusively to switch openings), and are insufficient
for the reasons discussed in connection with that citation

I f anything, the circunstances here are slightly nore
favorable to the Secretary. This is so because the opening had
previously been covered.

Neverthel ess, this violation does not rise to the

"significant and substantial™ |evel. The credi ble evidence shows
that while injuries are reasonably likely to occur, they are not
reasonably likely to be serious. | agree with dinmax that slight

bruises, mld sprains, etc., would be the common result of
accidents involving this small opening.
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The penalty for this violation will be assessed at $20.00.
This is in conformance with the parties' stipulation regarding
non-si gni fi cant and substantial violations.

VEST 85A99ARM Citation No. 2356413

On March 21, 1985, Inspector Elmer N chols, acting on behalf
of the Secretary, issued a citation charging that dimx was in
violation of the mandatory safety standard published at 30 C.F. R
057. 3A22. (FOOTNOTE 4) That standard provi des

M ners shall exam ne and test the back, face, and rib
of their working places at the begi nning of each shift
and frequently thereafter. Supervisors shall exam ne
the ground conditions during daily visits to insure
that proper testing and ground control practices are
being foll owed. Loose ground shall be taken down or
adequately supported before any other work is done.

G ound conditions al ong haul ageways and travel ways
shal | be exam ned periodically and scal ed or supported
as necessary.

The al | eged violation took place in one of the fingers
rising froma slusher drift. (See joint exhibits 4 and 5.) The
finger was not in use at the time. A concrete safety plug had
been in place at the upper end. On the day prior to the
i nspection, mners had set and shot one round of explosives in
the plug, bringing part of it down. Their purpose was to renove
the plug in order to bring the finger back into production
M ners were continuing the removal work when the inspector
arrived at about 10:00 a.m on the norning of his inspection
These background facts were not in dispute.

According to Inspector N chols, when he and I nspector
DeHerrera arrived at the base of the finger, a mner, Kelly
Kranmp, had just descended a set of |adders after having drilled
the face of the finger preparatory to setting a second round of
char ges.

At about that tine a "handful" of small bits of rock
dri bbl ed down from sonmewhere, convincing himthat the finger was
beginning to "work." He then noticed a piece of concrete in the
face which appeared to him"quite |oose." He described it as
about the size of a basketball, and estimated its wei ght at
bet ween 50 to 60 pounds.
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He viewed the concrete (referred to nost often in all the
testinmony as "the rock™) fromthe third step of the bottom | adder
in a set of two six-foot stepladders. This put hi mabout seven or
eight feet fromthe face. The rock was to the left of the top
step of the upper ladder. The only illumination present was his

cap | anp.

He was i mredi ately concerned that the rock could cone down.
DeHerrera and he left very briefly and went to a nearby
[ unch-room where he wote out the citation for violation of 30
C.F.R 57.3A22. He advised that Kranp and the other miner in the
crew, Nick Doran, should not go back up to |oad holes until the
of fendi ng pi ece of cenment was barred down.

The i nspector explained that because of the location of the
| oose cenment he was not concerned that it would fall directly on
the mner or the | adder. Rather, he testified, it would likely
fall on the 4 by 4 wooden brace upon which the upper | adder
rested. This, in turn, would cause the nminer and his equi pment to
fall to the concrete base of the finger

I nspector Nichols maintained that when he returned fromthe
slusher drift (or dash) at about 10:10 a.m the piece of concrete
had been brought down. He nade it clear that the single piece of
concrete (a part of the plug which did not come down in the
original blasting of the plug) was the only part of the face
whi ch he deened a hazard

M. Kelly Kranp was called as a witness by both the
Secretary and dinmax. H s assessnment of the stability of the
pi ece of concrete differed markedly fromthe inspector's. Kranp
testified that when he reached the finger on the norning in
guestion he first checked for msfires fromthe previous round.
He then barred down until he was certain any | oose material had

been renoved. Then, he testified, he proceeded to drill for the
second round. Kranp agreed that the inspectors appeared just
after he had conpleted the drilling. He denied that he had seen

any materials fall while the inspector was there, but conceded
that the "handful " could have fallen and escaped his notice. He
di d acknowl edge that some dribbling of "fines" or "sands" had
occurred earlier when he was drilling. This he insisted, was
common when drilling a safety plug after a first round had been
fired. In this case he suggested it was caused by novenment in the
finger attributable to a conbination of drill water, dril
vibration, and drill air. He believed that nost of it was smnal
bits of muck | oosened by the first blast which had come to rest
on a narrow bench he had created just below the face to
facilitate preparation for the setting of the first charge.

Al in all, Kranp was certain that although dribbling of
materials could sonetinmes presage a nmajor nmovenent in nuck or ore
in a finger, what he saw on March 21 was not of that sort.

Rather, it was no nore than what was to be anticipated froma
stable face during renoval of a safety plug (Tr. 291A292).
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M. Kranp maintained that his later effort to dislodge the
pi ece of cement confirmed his view He testified that it took five
m nutes of vigorous barring and prying by his partner and himto
| oosen it. They were forced to get in behind it to destabilize
it. Some of the difficulty stemmed fromthe fact that the piece
of concrete was partly supported by the concrete form ng the
wal s or ribs of the finger itself.

M. Ken Johnston, the dimax safety inspector who
acconpani ed the federal inspectors, testified briefly for the
operator. He agreed with Kranp's assessnment. He coul d see not hing
i ndicating that the piece of concrete was | oose or unstable. He
al so asserted that the few "pebbl es” com ng down seened
"i nconsequential .”

The Secretary presented no evidence tending to show t hat
Cimax failed to bar down at the begi nning of the shift. The
i nspector did suggest at one point that there had been a failure
to exam ne and test "frequently thereafter.” There is no
evi dence, however, to support that assertion. Simlarly,
I nspect or Ni chols acknow edged that there was no question of
supervisory dereliction in performng daily visits. Thus, the
only relevant part of the standard is that which decl ares:

Loose ground shall be taken down or adequately
supported before any work is done.

The parties' versions of the facts are not greatly
di vergent. The question of violation actually turns on the
validity of their wi tnesses' opinions. Wose judgnment, |nspector
Ni chols's or M. Kranp's, is entitled to acceptance? One clains
t he cenent appeared | oose; the other insisted it was not. That
determination is difficult because both nen are highly
experi enced hardrock mners, well-qualified to make such
j udgrent s.

Havi ng wei ghed the matter, | conclude that the Secretary has
failed to carry his ultimte burden of proof. | reach this
concl usion for several reasons. Although Inspector N chols had
great famliarity with work in raises, he had no prior specific
experience with the reopening of fingers which had been
saf ety-plugged for repair. Kranp, by contrast, had 10 years of
experience working in fingers, five of which involved renoving
safety plugs. Beyond that, the inspector reached his judgnent
after seeing the allegedly | oose piece of concrete briefly and
froma distance. Kranp not only |l ooked at it at cl ose range, but
ultimately barred it down. Finally, the fact that it took two
m ners, Kranp and Doran, at |east five mnutes to bar down the
relatively small piece of cenent tends to show that it was
stable. None of this would be persuasive, of course, if the truth
of Kranp's testinony were sonehow suspect. In this regard, | note
that at the tinme of the hearing Kranp had not been enpl oyed by
Cimax for five nonths. If he had any reason to
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slant his testinmony in favor of the operator, it was not apparent
on the record. | accept M. Kranmp's view that the cement was
stable. The citation will be vacated.

VEST 85A100ARM Citation No. 2356414

This citation concerns the | adder arrangenment used by M.
Kranmp to reach the concrete plug in the finger discussed in the
previous citation. Inspector N chols observed that mners had
used two six-foot folding stepladders. These | adders remained in
the closed or folded position. M. Kranp had | eaned t hem agai nst
the concrete side of the finger, which rose fromthe floor at a
45Adegree angle. The feet of the rear legs of the |ower |adder
rested on the floor. The feet of the upper |adder were spaced 46
i nches above the top step of the |ower |adder. They rested on a 4
by 4 inch wooden brace. Neither |adder was fastened to the finger
by any neans. (See sketch, government exhibit 8.)

I nspector N chols believed this arrangenent violated the
standard published at 30 C F.R 0O57.11A1. (FOOINOTE 5) That standard
provi des:

Saf e means of access shall be provided and mai nt ai ned
to all working places.

In his testinony, N chols expressed a nunber of concerns
about the safety of the |adders. Chief anong these were the
followi ng: that the | adders were designed to be self-standing,
not to be | eaned; that unsecured, the |adders were unstable and,
under | oading, could slip to one side or the other, causing a
climbing mner to fall; that the top step of the | ower |adder was
cracked; and that the 46Ai nch gap between | adders, where no steps
were provided, created a separate and significant hazard.

He al so maintai ned that the necessity for M. Kranp to carry
a 125Apound drill up the | adder increased the overall hazards.
The proper practice, the inspector clainmd, was to use a single
"mner's |adder" to reach the workplace. He contended that the
fol ded stepl adder, resting on its back |egs al one, was inherently
| ess stable than the mner's |adder. This was so, he testified,
because the steps at 12Ainch intervals between the heavy side
rails of the single |adder lent those rails nore rigidity than
t he sl ender back | egs of the stepladder. Only the front |egs of
t he stepl adder were nmeant to bear the weight of a clinber, while
the back | egs were designed nmerely to support the | adder itself.



~1031

The witnesses for Cinmax disagreed with nearly all of the
i nspector's contentions. M. Kranp, who was using the | adders,
bel i eved they were safer than a mner's |adder. He pointed out
that they were wider at the base than a mner's |adder and shoul d
therefore be steadier. He also testified that the steps on the
| adders used were wi der and angled differently fromthose on
m ners' |adders. This, he said, gave the stepladders a superior
footing when the | adder had to be |eaned at a 45Adegree angl e,
and allowed the clinber nore toe space because of the offset
provided by the rear legs. He further insisted that the top step
was sound when he ascended the |adder; it cracked, he said, when
he dropped the drill leg on it as he started to descend.

The dimax safety manager, M. Larkin, testified that he
could see no problemwi th the | adder arrangemnent.

Counsel for Cdimax points out that since the standard
prescribes no specific neasures to achi eve "safe access," safe
conpl i ance must be gauged by whether the access used by the
conpany would inspire corrective actionin a " reasonabl y
prudent person familiar with the factual circunstances
surroundi ng the all egedly hazardous condition, including any
facts peculiar to the mining industry . . . . " Al abama ByAProducts
Cor poration, 4 FMSHRC 2128, 2129 (Decenber, 1982).

The test is the correct one. | nust conclude, however, that
a reasonably prudent person confronted with the | adder
arrangenent used by Cimax would judge it unsafe. | do not reach

thi s concl usi on based upon the inspector's concerns about the

i nherent design differences between fol di ng stepl adders and

m ners' |adders. The inspector's testinmony in that regard was
weakened by his adm ssion that had the safety of the | ower | adder
been the only issue, he would have found it satisfactory except
for the broken top step. (Tr. 307A308, 321, 324.)

The hazard reveal ed by the evidence was the use of the two
| adders with a 46Ai nch gap between the two. M. Kranp naintai ned
that he could easily and safely clinb the |ower |adder with a
125Apound jackleg drill over his shoulder, sling the drill off
his shoul der and onto the 4 by 4 brace supporting the second
| adder, and then sonmehow pull hinmself up onto the brace where he
would stand to drill. This testinony is sinply not credible. One
way or another, he had to clinb the last 46 inches of a 45Adegree
concrete wall w thout steps and without |adder rails to grasp to
bal ance hi nsel f. The manuever woul d be hazardous wi thout a heavy
drill being carried. Wth the drill, it was even nore dangerous.
Because of the gap between the upper and | ower |adders, the
standard was clearly viol ated.
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Further, | conclude that the violation was "significant and
substantial ," as alleged. Had a miner, particularly one burdened
with a 125Apound drill, fallen while ascendi ng or descendi ng the

makeshi ft | adder arrangement, the possibility of a reasonably
serious injury was all too apparent. The reasonable possibility
of such an injury's occurring is |ikew se manifest.

The parties have stipulated that for those violations which
are found to exist, and which are also found to be "significant
and substantial,"” the civil penalties proposed by the Secretary
are appropriate and should be inposed. The stipul ati on appears
reasonabl e. Consequently, a civil penalty of $98.00 will be
assessed.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

Based upon the entire record herein, and in accordance wth
the determ nations of fact contained in the narrative portions of
this decision, the follow ng conclusions of |aw are made:

(1) The Conmission has jurisdiction to decide this
consol idated matter.

(2) dimx violated the mandatory safety standard published
at 30 CF.R [57.11A12 as alleged in citation nunmber 2358524.

(3) The violation was not "significant and substantial"”
wi thin the nmeaning of the Act.

(4) The reasonabl e and appropriate penalty for the violation
is $20.00.

(5) dimx violated the mandatory safety standard published
at 30 CF.R [57.11A12 as alleged in citation nunmber 2358525.

(6) The violation was not "significant and substantial"”
wi thin the nmeaning of the Act.

(7) The reasonabl e and appropriate penalty for the violation
is $20.00.

(8) Adimux did not violate the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C. F.R [057.3A22 as alleged in citation nunber
2356413.

(9) dimax violated the mandatory safety standard published
at 30 C.F.R [57.11A1 as alleged in citation nunber 2356414.

(10) The violation was "significant and substantial”™ wthin
t he nmeani ng of the Act.

(11) The reasonabl e and appropriate penalty for the
violation is $98. 00.
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CORDER

Accordingly, citations nunbered 2358524 and 2358525 are
ORDERED af firmed as non-significant and substantial; citation
nunber 2356413 i s CRDERED vacated; citation nunber 2356414 is
ORDERED affirmed as significant and substantial; and imax is
ORDERED to pay total civil penalties of $138.00 to the Secretary
within 30 days of the date of this decision.

John A. Carlson
Admi ni strative Law Judge

1 Originally, Docket No. WEST 85A98ARM was included in the
consol i dation. That contest was withdrawn by Cinmax at the
heari ng, however, and was severed for disposition by separate
order issued on January 21, 1986.

2 The standard is now re-codified as 30 C F.R [057.11012.

3 The standard does appear to be ainmed at hazards where a

wor ker may fall through (or partly through) a hole. It does not,
that is to say, encompass mere tripping over objects or at uneven
spots.

4 Now publ i shed, wi thout change, as 30 C. F. R [57.3022.

5 Now re-codi fied as 30 C.F. R [O57.11001.



